1992

Judy A. Cordova v. G. Barton Blackstock, Bureau Chief, Records Bureau, Drivers License Division : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is in the Court of Appeals based upon Utah Code Ann. § 78-2A-3(2)(a) (1992).

ISSUES PRESENTED AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

A. Does the district court's review of the record created in an informal administrative adjudication satisfy the requirement of "trial de novo" in Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-15 (Supp. 1992)? This is a question of law and, consequently, this Court should accord no deference to the district court's judgment but should review it under a "correctness" standard. State v.

Johnson, 821 P.2d 1150, 1161 (Utah 1991); Rollins v. Petersen, 813 P.2d 1156, 1159 (Utah 1991); Landes v. Capital City Bank, 795 P.2d 1127, 1129 (Utah 1990); State v. Humphreys, 794 P.2d 496, 497 (Utah App. 1990); Monticello v. Christensen, 788 P.2d 513, 516 (Utah) cert. denied __ U.S. ___, 111 S. Ct. 120 (1990).

B. If the District Court on a trial de novo may review and base its ruling on the administrative record, does failure to appear and present the issue of the legal inadequacy of the evidence at the administrative hearing preclude a Petitioner from arguing in the district court that the evidence is legally insufficient under the residuum rule? This also is a question of law, and the same standard of review applies to this issue as to the one above.

C. If the district court on a trial de novo may base its ruling on the administrative record and the evidence presented there by applying the residuum rule, was the documentary evidence admitted at the administrative hearing with no objection from the Petitioner competent evidence satisfying the residuum rule, even though it was unobjected-to-admissible hearsay? This too is a question of law; no deference should be given to the district court's judgment, and review should be under a "correctness" standard.

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES

A copy of the determinative statute, Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-15 (Supp. 1992), is attached as Addendum "F."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal is from the final judgment and decree of the Third Judicial District, Salt Lake County, The Honorable J. Dennis Frederick presiding.

Appellee Judy A. Cordova's driving license was suspended for a period of ninety days following an informal adjudicative proceeding before the Department of Public Safety, Drivers License Division (the "Department"). Cordova petitioned for judicial review of the Department's decision by way of a trial de novo in district court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-15 (Supp. 1992).

Before trial de novo, Cordova moved to vacate and set aside the administrative order based upon a claimed lack of a "residuum of competent evidence" because the officer did not appear at the administrative hearing and testify. The motion was granted, final judgment was entered on May 15, 1992, and the Notice of Appeal was filed June 5, 1992.

STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

On January 24, 1992, Cordova was arrested for driving under the influence of an intoxicating beverage. (DUI Report Form at 1 (Attached as Addendum "A"); Record ("R") at 17.) She was requested to submit to a chemical breath test and agreed to do so. The test results indicated that her breath alcohol content was .169 percent. (R. at 19.) On behalf of the Department, the arresting officer served the Petitioner with notice of intention to suspend her driving privileges in accordance with Utah Code Ann. § 41-2-130 (Supp. 1992). (R. at 2.) Petitioner requested an administrative hearing before the Department, and one was scheduled for February 19, 1992 at 9:00 a.m. (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law ("Findings") at 2; R. at 45, Attached as Addendum "G") Cordova was notified of the hearing by first class mail on February 6, 1992.

At the time set for the hearing, neither Cordova, her attorney, nor the officer appeared. (Findings at 2; R. at 45.) The hearing officer reviewed the Department's file and the reports submitted by the police officer, including: the DUI report form, the notice of citation and intent to suspend, the completed intoxilyzer operational check list, the intoxilyzer result card, and the Department's record of intoxilyzer test and

affidavit for the day of January 22, 1992. (Findings at 2; R. at

45) The hearing officer then made the following findings:

There was a reason to make the initial stop of the Petitioner, i.e., excessive speed. There was reasonable suspicion that the Petitioner was DUI, i.e., her admission that she had been drinking, odor of alcohol, slurred and slowed speech, impaired balance and Nystagmus in both eyes. She was properly warned and took the breath test. There is a check list for the breath machine in evidence, showing that all procedures were followed and a test result card with breath sample showing .169 BrAC and no indication that there were problems with the test or machine. The preponderance of evidence would support a suspension in this case.

Department of Public Safety, Driver License Division, Findings of Proceedings on Hearings for Administrative Suspension at 4; R. at 42 (Plaintiff's Exhibit 1, "Transcript," Attached as Addendum "E".)

Based upon those findings and determinations, the Department suspended the driving privilege of the Petitioner. (Findings at 2; R. at 45.)

Cordova brought an action for judicial review by trial de novo in district court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-15 (Supp. 1992). (R. at 2.) Instead of trial de novo, the district court held a hearing wherein it granted Cordova's motion to vacate and set aside the administrative order based upon a claimed lack of a "residuum of competent evidence." The district court concluded that it "is not compelled to hold a

trial de novo in all cases." (Findings at 3; R. at 46.) From this order to vacate and set aside, Defendant appealed. (R. at 53.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I

Prior to 1988, "per se" driver's license suspension hearings were on the record and the residuum rule was applied on judicial review. Since 1988, and the adoption of the Utah Administrative Procedures Act (UAPA), the Department's adjudicative hearings are informal proceedings, and judicial review is by trial de novo in the district court. Trial de novo contemplates a complete retrial upon new evidence in which the record below becomes irrelevant. Therefore, the district court erred when it failed to conduct a trial de novo and instead based its judgment on review of the informal adjudicative record and application of the "residuum rule."

POINT II

Even if the "residuum rule" is applicable in the district court's de novo review of the Department's informal adjudications, Cordova is precluded from raising an issue for the first time on appeal when she failed to appear at the administrative hearing and raise it at that level. Cordova failed to argue the "residuum rule" at the administrative hearing

and thus waived her opportunity to rely upon it in the subsequent judicial review by trial de novo.

POINT III

To the extent the "residuum rule" does apply, it only prevents administrative action based exclusively on incompetent evidence. Evidence that is admissible as an exception to the hearsay rule is competent evidence, for purposes of the residuum rule, when the party against whom it is admitted fails to appear and object on the basis that the necessary foundation for invocation of the hearsay exception has not been laid. In the instant case, Cordova did not object to the admission of the evidence at the hearing. The evidence was consequently competent, and the requirements of the "residuum rule" were satisfied.

ARGUMENT

I. STATUTORY CHANGES REGARDING JUDICIAL REVIEW OF THE DEPARTMENT'S INFORMAL ADJUDICATIONS REQUIRE THAT THE DISTRICT COURT CONDUCT A TRIAL DE NOVO IN WHICH THE RESIDUUM RULE CANNOT APPLY.

A. UAPA CHANGED JUDICIAL REVIEW OF THE DEPARTMENT'S DRIVER'S LICENSE SUSPENSION HEARINGS FROM "REVIEW OF THE RECORD" TO "TRIAL DE NOVO."

Prior to the Utah Administrative Procedures Act (UAPA), Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-1 to -22 (1989), effective January 1, 1988,

judicial review of "per se" driver's license suspensions was a review of the administrative record:¹

Any person denied a license or whose license has been cancelled, suspended or revoked by the department ... shall have the right to file a petition within thirty days for a hearing in the matter in a court of record in the county wherein such person shall reside and such court is hereby vested with jurisdiction and it shall be its duty to set the matter for hearing upon ten days written notice to the department. The court's jurisdiction is limited to a review of the record to determine whether or not the department's decision was arbitrary or capricious.

Utah Code Ann. § 41-2-20 (1953)(Supp. 1985)(emphasis added)(current version at Utah Code Ann. § 41-2-131)(1988). Judicial review by "review of the record" clearly provides a forum for application of the "residuum rule." Under this statutory framework, Utah courts held that the rule applied to judicial review of the decision of the Department's administrative Hearing Officers. McMillin v. Matheson, 741 P.2d 960, 961 (Utah 1987); Williams v. Schwendiman, 740 P.2d 1354, 1356 (Utah App. 1987); Kehl v. Schwendiman, 735 P.2d 413, 414 (Utah App. 1987).

¹ "Per se" hearings arise out of an intoxilyzer result indicating a breath alcohol concentration above .08 percent; no other condition is required for suspension. "Refusal hearings" arise out of the motorist's refusal to submit to a chemical test. Judicial review of a "refusal hearing" has always been by trial de novo. See Utah Code Ann. § 41-6-44.10(b)(1953)(providing for review of refusal hearings by trial de novo)(amended 1987 Utah Laws ch. 138, now superseded by Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-15 (Supp. 1992)).

UAPA made two changes of importance to this case. First, UAPA removed the language in Utah Code Ann. § 41-2-20 that provided for judicial review of per se driver's license suspension hearings by "review of the record." See 1987 Utah Laws ch. 909. Second, UAPA provided for judicial review by "trial de novo" of all informal adjudicative proceedings. Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-15 (Supp. 1992). All of the Department's adjudicative proceedings are informal. Utah Admin. R. 708-17-6 (1992). The first issue before this Court is whether UAPA's requirement of "trial de novo" for judicial review of the Department's driver's license suspension hearings is satisfied by the district court's review of the informal adjudicative record.

"Trial de novo" may have two meanings when applied to judicial review of administrative action: the first is "[a] complete retrial upon new evidence," and the second is "a trial upon the record made before the lower tribunal." Denver & Rio Grande W. R.R. v. Public Serv. Comm'n, 98 Utah 431, 100 P.2d 552, 554 (1940); see also University of Utah v. Industrial Comm'n, 736 P.2d 630, 632 (Utah 1987); Pledger v. Cox, 626 P.2d 415, 416 (Utah 1981).

Pledger created a two part analysis to determine which type of "trial de novo" is called for: (1) the wording and context of the statute in which the "trial de novo" requirement appears;

and, (2) the nature of the administrative body, the decision and procedure being reviewed. Pledger, 626 P.2d at 416-17. Both parts of the analysis require that "trial de novo," in the context of judicial review of driver's license suspension hearings, mean a complete retrial upon new evidence.

1. Statutory Context.

UAPA provides for two types of judicial review depending on the form of the administrative adjudicative proceeding. In formal adjudicative proceedings, a formal record with sworn testimony and cross-examination is required. See Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-8 (1989). Judicial review of formal adjudications is on the record in either the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals. Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16 (1989). In contrast, in informal adjudicative proceedings no record need be created. See Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-5 (1989). Judicial review is by trial de novo in the district court. Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-15 (Supp. 1992). "Trial de novo," in the context of judicial review of administrative action where no record need be created, must be a complete retrial upon new evidence rather than a trial on the basis of the record, since the latter may be an impossibility.

Further support for this definition of trial de novo is found in UAPA's correlation between the court of review and the form of review. An appellate court's expertise is in an "on the

record" review of the developed record. A trial court, on the other hand, is best suited to hear evidence and testimony, and make an independent determination of the facts. As stated by this Court in Davis County v. Clearfield City, 756 P.2d 704, 710 n.8 (Utah App. 1988), "[UAPA's] approach leaves each level of court doing what it does best -- trial courts receiving and evaluating testimony and appellate courts reviewing records and resolving legal issues."

Thus, in the context of UAPA, "trial de novo" in Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-15 means a complete retrial, upon new evidence, and not a review of the administrative record. Section 63-46b-15(3)(b) (Supp. 1992) further provides that, in reviewing informal agency adjudicative proceedings, the district court "shall determine all questions of fact and law." In this case, the district court erred when it concluded as a matter of law that the Department's action should be reversed, instead of conducting a trial de novo.

2. The Administrative Body and Proceedings. The Utah Supreme Court has held that, in the context of driver's's license suspension hearings that are appealed to the district court, "de novo" review means "a complete retrial upon new evidence." Pledger, 626 P.2d at 417. The Court reasoned that the more elaborate trial de novo "affords a party who is about to suffer

from administrative action a closer judicial scrutiny than a mere review of the record of agency action." Id.

The definition of trial de novo as a complete retrial upon new evidence accords with this Court's pronouncement in Brinkerhoff v. Schwendiman, 790 P.2d 587 (Utah App. 1990).

Regarding judicial review of a driver's's license suspension, this Court noted:

It seems clear that no prejudice would ordinarily occur when an informal hearing is held under the UAPA because the litigant has an absolute right to a trial de novo before the district court. In the trial de novo, Brinkerhoff was able to present his entire case before a new tribunal for an independent decision.

Brinkerhoff, 790 P.2d at 590.

The district court cannot preserve the motorist's right to "present his entire case before a new tribunal for an independent decision" if it merely reviews the administrative record and bases its judgment thereon. Thus, the second prong of the Pledger test, i.e., "the nature of the administrative body, the decision and procedure being reviewed," also requires that "trial de novo" in the context of judicial review of the Department's driver's license suspension hearings mean a complete retrial upon new evidence. The district court erred when it failed to conduct a trial de novo and instead entered judgment on the basis of the residuum rule.

B. THE RESIDUUM RULE IS INCOMPATIBLE WITH THE REQUIREMENT OF TRIAL DE NOVO.

Because "trial de novo" in the district court means a complete retrial upon new evidence, the record below is irrelevant. In contrast, a reviewing court applying the residuum rule must conduct a review of the administrative record. The "residuum rule" provides that an administrative agency's findings "cannot be based exclusively on hearsay evidence." Yact Club v. Utah Liquor Control Comm'n, 681 P.2d 1224, 1226 (Utah 1984). A district court applying the "residuum rule" reviews the record searching for a "residuum of evidence, legal and competent in a court of law, to support an award ..." Hackford v. Industrial Comm'n, 11 Utah 2d 312, 315, 358 P.2d 899, 901 (1961). In the event such competent evidence cannot be found in the record, the administrative action is reversed. Clearly, for the reviewing court to base its judgment on the residuum rule, it must base its judgment on review of the administrative record.

McMillin, Kehl and Williams were decided under the earlier statutory framework that provided for review "on the record," not by "trial de novo." They are no longer controlling or applicable because UAPA statutorily changed the nature of review for the Department's suspension hearings. Although post-UAPA decisions by this Court have upheld application of the "residuum rule" to other administrative proceedings, none have done so in the

context of judicial review of informal adjudicative hearings brought to the district court under UAPA's remedy of trial de novo. See, e.g., Wagstaff v. Dep't of Employment Sec., 826 P.2d 1069, 1072 n.2 (Utah App. 1992) (appellate review of formal administrative proceeding); Adams v. Board of Review of the Indus. Comm'n, 821 P.2d 1 (Utah App. 1991) (appellate review of formal administrative proceeding); Tolman v. Salt Lake County Attorney, 818 P.2d 23 (Utah App. 1991) (petition for extraordinary writ under Utah R. Civ. Pro. 65(b)); Mayes v. Dep't of Employment Sec., 754 P.2d 989, 992 n.1 (Utah App. 1988) (appellate review under Utah Code Ann. § 35-4-10(i) (1987)). Because of the recognized trend in other jurisdictions to abandon application of the residuum rule, see Wagstaff v. Dep't of Employment Sec., 826 P.2d 1069, 1072 n.2 (Utah App. 1992) (citing 3 Kenneth C. Davis, Administrative Law Treatise, § 16.6 (2d ed. 1980)); Mayes v. Dep't of Employment Sec., 754 P.2d 989, 992 (Utah App. 1992), this Court should limit application of the "residuum rule" to judicial review that is based on the administrative record. The "residuum rule" cannot apply to trial de novo where the administrative record is irrelevant, and for this reason, the district court erred in this case when it based its judgment upon it.

II. CORDOVA CANNOT RAISE FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL AN ISSUE SHE FAILED TO BRING TO THE ATTENTION OF THE HEARING OFFICER.

Generally, appellate courts only consider questions which were raised and preserved in the lower tribunal. See Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exchange, 817 P.2d 789, 800-01 (Utah 1991); Loveland v. Orem City Corp., 746 P.2d 763, 767 (Utah 1987). The corollary is that an appellant cannot assert an argument for the first time on appeal. See Bangerter v. Poulton, 663 P.2d 100 (Utah 1983); James v. Preston, 746 P.2d 799 (Utah App. 1987).

This rule is equally applicable in the review of administrative proceedings. Brinkerhoff v. Schwendiman, 790 P.2d 587, 589 (Utah App. 1990). In State v. Utah Merit System Council, 614 P.2d 1259 (Utah 1980), the Utah Supreme Court held that a party who did not object to the failure to administer an oath in an administrative hearing could not raise that issue in the subsequent judicial review: "Because no timely objection was made in the administrative hearing, the matter was not appropriately raised before the district court." Utah Merit System, 614 P.2d at 1261. Further, "[a] party must raise an objection in an earlier proceeding or waive its right to litigate the issue in subsequent proceedings." Brinkerhoff v. Schwendiman, 790 P.2d 587, 589 (Utah App. 1990)(involving a driver's license suspension).

The test for whether an issue has been preserved for appeal was set forth by this Court in LeBaron & Associates v. Rebel Enterprises, 823 P.2d 479, 482-83 (Utah App. 1991), as follows: "To preserve a substantive issue for appeal, a party must timely bring the issue to the attention of the trial court, thus providing the court an opportunity to rule on the issue's merits." Because Cordova failed to object to the evidence or to argue a failure of proof at the administrative hearing, she failed to bring the "residuum rule" issue to the attention of the hearing officer and denied him the opportunity to rule on the issue's merits. On appeal to the district court, Cordova should be precluded from claiming that failure to apply the "residuum rule" was error because of her failure to preserve the issue. See Brinkerhoff, 790 P.2d at 589; LeBaron & Associates, 823 P.2d at 482-83.

This Court cannot condone the practice Cordova has relied upon in pursuing this appeal. Allowing parties to by-pass the administrative hearing and then argue on appeal to the district court that the evidence presented against them at the hearing was objectionable would vitiate the purpose of the administrative hearing. In S & G Inc. v. Morgan, 797 P.2d 1085 (Utah 1990), an interested party failed to appear and present evidence at a hearing before the state engineer. The Utah Supreme Court

refused to allow the party to present the evidence upon review de novo in the district court. The court's reasoning is instructive in this case.

The requirement of participation as a prerequisite to standing to appeal is a corollary of the doctrine of exhaustion of administrative remedies. It is well settled under this doctrine that persons aggrieved by decisions of administrative agencies "may not, by refusing or neglecting to submit issues of fact to such agencies, by-pass them, and call upon the courts to determine ... the matters properly determinable originally by such agencies."

S & G, Inc., 797 P.2d at 1087, quoting People v. Keith Ry. Equip. Co., 70 Cal. App. 2d 339, 346 161 P.2d 244, 249 (Cal. Dist. Ct. App. 1945).

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