1992

Judy A. Cordova v. G. Barton Blackstock, Bureau Chief, Records Bureau, Drivers License Division : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I

Utah Code Ann. Sec 41-2-130(6)(a) (Supp. 1992) requires the Department to hold an administrative hearing at the request of an individual arrested for driving under the influence of drugs and/or alcohol, prior to the suspension of his or her driver's license. The failure of the Department to hold the hearing as Cordova requested, was a denial of her right to due process. Therefore, the district court's decision to vacate and set aside the administrative order should be upheld.

POINT II

Judicial review of the Department's informal adjudicative proceedings is by "on the record" trial de novo. Accordingly, the district court is entitled to set aside the action of the agency where there is not "a modicum of legally competent evidence" to satisfy the requirements of the "residuum rule."

ARGUMENT

I. DEPARTMENT'S FAILURE TO CONDUCT A HEARING DENIED CORDOVA'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS, AND WAS ADEQUATE GROUNDS FOR THE DISTRICT COURT'S ORDER VACATING AND SETTING ASIDE THE ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER OF THE DEPARTMENT.

A. UTAH CODE ANN. SEC. 41-2-130 REQUIRES THAT A HEARING BE HELD, IF REQUESTED, PRIOR TO THE SUSPENSION OF AN INDIVIDUAL'S DRIVER'S LICENSE.

Cordova was not provided with the administrative hearing which she requested pursuant to Utah Code Ann. Sec. 41-2-130(6)(a) (Supp. 1992). The statute entitles a person arrested for driving under the influence of alcohol (DUI), upon request, to an administrative hearing before the Department, prior to the suspension of his or her license. (The statute is attached as Addendum A.) The purpose of the statute is undoubtedly to ensure that an individual's right to operate a motor vehicle is not denied without adequate due process protection.

Although a time was set for the hearing, neither Cordova, her attorney, the arresting officer, the operator of the breathalyzer, nor anyone else appeared before the Department. (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law ("Findings") at 2; Record ("R") at 45, attached as Addendum B.) The hearing officer simply reviewed the information contained in the Department's file, and made a determination that there was a preponderance of evidence to support the suspension of Cordova's license. Department Of Public Safety, Driver License Division, Findings of Proceedings on Hearings for Administrative Suspension at 4; R. at 42 (Plaintiff's Exhibit 1, "Transcript").

The action taken by the Department did not provide the "hearing" guaranteed under Utah Code Ann. Sec. 41-2-130.

The term "hearing" implies that at least one party be heard.

A hearing is a:

Proceeding of relative formality (though generally less formal than a trial), generally public, with definite issues of fact or of law to be tried, in which witnesses are heard and parties proceeded against have right to be heard, and is much the same as a trial and may terminate a final order.

Black's Law Dictionary 367 (5th Edition). If no parties are present, no testimony can be taken, no foundation for competent evidence laid, and generally insufficient grounds on which the hearing officer can base a decision. Had the arresting officer appeared, the Department could have conducted a "hearing." However, the failure of both parties to appear precluded the Department from holding any kind of meaningful hearing to which Cordova was entitled, even in her absence.

The Commission as an administrative body may be justified in taking the position that it is not necessarily bound to adhere to the technical rules of evidence and procedure as applied in the courts. Nevertheless, wherein it is performing a duty of a judicial nature in which the findings of facts and the adjudication of important rights is involved, care should be taken that the procedures should comport with standards of fairness and due process.

Club Stanyon Street v. Utah Liquor Control Commission, 615 P.2d 435, 436 (Utah 1980).

The statute controlling the Department's DUI "refusal" hearings lends support to the contention that the Department

did not hold a "per se" hearing as required.¹ With "refusal" cases, the Department may suspend a driver's license automatically upon a failure of the Petitioner to appear on the date set for the hearing.

(c) If a hearing is requested by the person and conducted by the division, and the division determines that the person was requested to submit to a chemical test or tests and refused to submit to the test or tests, or if the person fails to appear before the division as required in the notice, the division shall revoke his license or permit....

Utah Code Ann. Sec. 41-6-44.10(2)(f) (Supp. 1992) (emphasis added). No such provision is contained in the "per se" statute. Were it the intent of the Legislature to permit the Department to default the Petitioner and forego administrative hearings where the "per se" Petitioner fails to appear, it would have so indicated by including similar language in the "per se" statute.

The District Court recognized that "a hearing and findings supported by a modicum of competent legal evidence is an appropriate and necessary safeguard to protect Petitioner and persons similarly situated from having their driving privilege taken from them without due process of law." (R. at 46.) Having determined that Cordova was not accorded the due process rights to which she was

¹ "Refusal" hearings pertain to situations where the Petitioner fails to submit to chemical tests as required, and are governed by Utah Code Ann. Sec. 41-6-44.10 (Supp. 1992). (Attached as Addendum C.) "Per se" hearings are held subject to the requirements of Sec. 41-2-130 in situations where the petitioner does submit to the required chemical tests.

entitled, the court correctly vacated and set aside the administrative action. This comports with the scheme of the "per se" statute, Utah Code Ann. Sec. 41-2-130, in its recognition that the division has no authority to suspend except after a "hearing." "(g) After the hearing, the division shall order whether the person's license to operate a motor vehicle be suspended or not." Utah Code Ann. Sec. 41-2-130(6)(g).

B. JUDICIAL REVIEW OF THE DEPARTMENT'S INFORMAL ADJUDICATORY PROCEEDINGS BY TRIAL DE NOVO DOES NOT RELIEVE THE DEPARTMENT OF ITS OBLIGATION TO PROVIDE CORDOVA WITH AN ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING.

Appellant believes that Cordova's statutory right to a trial de novo before the district court relieves the Department of its obligation to conduct a hearing. That notion, however, is contrary to the administrative hearing concept, and compromises the entire administrative process.

The purpose of judicial review of administrative decision making is to ensure that agency determinations are not made arbitrarily, and that minimum due process standards are maintained. 2 Am.Jur.2d Administrative Law Sec. 555 (1962). When an agency fails to hold a hearing as required by statute, that agency has clearly failed to meet that minimum standard. Although a trial de novo review of an administrative hearing provides the Petitioner with an additional opportunity to present his or her case, it in no manner relieves the administrative agency of its obligation to conduct a hearing.

One purpose of the administrative hearing is to allow those with experience in a particular field to make a decision based on their specialized knowledge. That purpose is contravened when an agency can avoid responsibility by relying on the reviewing court to make decisions on its behalf. Judicial review should provide a "check" on the administrative system, not take the place of the system. Accordingly, the availability of judicial review by trial de novo cannot cure the procedural defect of the complete lack of a hearing at the administrative level. To hold that a trial de novo under such circumstances would satisfy the Petitioner's right to due process, would undermine the administrative process, and render informal adjudicatory proceedings superfluous. The district court has some responsibility to vouchsafe this notion, otherwise Utah Code Ann. Sec. 63-46b-17, attached as Addendum D, is meaningless. This statute clearly provides that in granting relief in either a formal or informal setting, it may, inter alia, set aside or modify agency action or otherwise order other agency action, including further agency proceedings.

C. THE DISTRICT COURT IS NOT REQUIRED TO HOLD A TRIAL DE NOVO WHERE ADEQUATE GROUNDS EXIST TO SET ASIDE THE DEPARTMENT'S ORDER WITHOUT THE NEED FOR A COMPLETE TRIAL.

Had the Department accorded Cordova the hearing to which she was entitled, the district court could have proceeded with a review by trial de novo. However, the lack of an administrative hearing precluded a trial de novo as there was no informal adjudicatory proceeding for the court

to review. This is particularly relevant where, as here, judicial review is by trial de novo "on the record."²

In University of Utah v. Industrial Commission, 736 P.2d 630 (Utah 1987), the Utah Supreme Court had an opportunity to comment on the adequacy of a trial de novo review of a decision of the Industrial Commission. The court ruled that in the context of an appeal of an antidiscrimination case, the district court could affirm the findings of the Industrial Commission, or make its own findings. The reviewing court "was not bound by the record, but may supplement the record, create an entirely new record, or elect to do a combination of these." Id. at 634. See also, Salt Lake City Corp. v. Confer, 674 P.2d 632 (Utah 1983).

The same rationale supports the district court's decision in regard to Cordova. The court reviewed the record, and made an independent determination that the procedures accorded Cordova and the evidence presented at the administrative hearing were insufficient to justify the suspension of her license. Accordingly, the court vacated and set aside the administrative order. The decision comports with the Utah Administrative Procedures Act (UAPA)³ statement that in granting relief from an agency

² The implications of "on the record" trial de novo are discussed in greater detail in "Point II", infra.

³ Utah Code Ann. Sec. 63-46-1 to -22 (1989).

adjudicatory proceeding, the district court may "set aside or modify agency action." Utah Code Ann. Sec. 63-46b-17(b)(iv) (1989).

Having decided thusly, it would have been a waste of judicial resources to hold a trial de novo where facts existed which enabled the district court to reach its conclusion that the agency action was improper. As stated in University of Utah v. Industrial Commission:

A trial judge is accorded broad discretion in determining how a trial shall proceed in his or her courtroom. If a trial can be held with expedience, i.e., if the days required for trial can be minimized without any compromise of the rights of the parties, certainly this is beneficial to the interests of judicial economy and resolution of disputes. The district court's procedure here, although falling somewhere between a new trial and a review of the record, was proper.

Id. at 633. As the above passage indicates, the district court is not required to hold a complete judicial review by trial de novo where it can reach a decision based on the information at its disposal.

II. ASSUMING THAT THE DISTRICT COURT IS REQUIRED TO CONDUCT JUDICIAL REVIEW BY TRIAL DE NOVO, THE DECISION TO VACATE AND SET ASIDE THE ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER SHOULD STILL BE UPHELD.

A. TRIAL DE NOVO REVIEW OF DEPARTMENT'S "PER SE" LICENSE SUSPENSION HEARINGS IS "ON THE RECORD."

All Department of Public Safety hearings are, by designation, informal adjudicative proceedings. Utah Admin. R. 708-17-6 (1992). Therefore, judicial review of the Department's hearings is governed by the UAPA as follows: "The district courts shall have jurisdiction to review by trial de novo all final agency actions resulting from

informal adjudicative proceedings. Utah Code Ann. Sec. 63-46b-15(1)(a) (Supp. 1992).

The Utah Supreme Court has stated that the term "trial de novo" has two different meanings: "(1) A complete retrial upon new evidence; (2) a trial upon the record made before the lower tribunal." Denver & R.G.W.R. Co. v. Public Service Commission, 98 Utah 431, 436, 100 P.2d 552, 554 (1940). The form of trial de novo which is used in a particular instance is "dictated by the wording and context of the statute in which it appears and by the nature of the administrative body, decision and procedure being reviewed." Pledger v. Cox, 626 P.2d 415, 416-17 (Utah 1981).

The Pledger test, as applied to "per se" drivers license suspension hearings, makes it clear that judicial review of such actions is "on the record" within the second meaning of "trial de novo."

In Denver & R.G.W.R. Co., the Court placed particular emphasis on the wording of the statute at issue which provided for "plenary review" in the district court as a trial de novo. 98 Utah at 436, 100 P.2d at 554. The Utah Supreme Court interpreted that statute as requiring a trial de novo "on the record."

To review an action is to study or examine it again. Thus, "trial de novo" as used here must have a meaning consistent with the continued existence of that which is to be again examined or studied. If in these cases, the first meaning were applied to the use of the term "trial de novo" then one could not consistently speak of it as a review, as the Commission's action would no longer exist to be re-examined or re-studied.

Id. at 436, 100 P.2d at 555.

The wording and context of the UAPA supports a similar conclusion. As noted, the UAPA requires the district court to "review by trial de novo" all license suspension hearings. As in Denver & R.G.W.R. Co., the term "review" presupposes the continued existence of the Department's action, and therefore review should be "on the record."

On the record review of "per se" license suspension hearings also accords with the second prong of the Pledger test concerning "the nature of the administrative body, the decision and procedure being reviewed." Although Pledger held that, in the context of driver's license suspension hearings the term trial de novo should be "a complete retrial upon new evidence" as opposed to "on the record," that language is inapposite here inasmuch as Pledger involved a "refusal" hearing (as opposed to a "per se" hearing) decided prior to the enactment of the UAPA. 626 P.2d 415

Appellant incorrectly cites Brinkerhoff v. Schwendiman, 790 P.2d 587 (Utah App. 1990), as support for its argument that trial de novo in Cordova's situation is within the first Pledger definition. Brinkerhoff held that the Petitioner "was able to present his entire case before a new tribunal for an independent decision." Id. at 590. This reasoning, however, is more consistent with "on the record" trial de novo. Under either definition, the court has the discretion to hear new evidence from the parties. The primary distinction between the two forms of trial de novo

is that in an "on the record" review, the court may use the administrative record to assist in its determination.

The Administrative Regulations of the Department are consistent with an "on the record" trial de novo.

Record. The presiding officer may choose to make a verbatim recording or record the testimony, information and documents on forms provided by the division with "quotations of the verbatim testimony" sufficient for court review.

Utah Admin.R. 708-17-8(8) (1992). Furthermore, the presiding officer is required to make a brief written summary of the hearing containing material facts, his or her recommendation for agency action, findings of fact and conclusions, and reasons for the recommendation, "in any form calculated to facilitate the proceeding and review."

Utah Admin.R. 708-17-9(6) (1992). The fact that both of the cited regulations anticipate that the administrative record will be utilized on review, is evidence that the second prong of the Pledger test--the nature of the administrative body, decision and procedure being reviewed--also indicates that trial de novo review of the Department's informal adjudicatory proceedings should be "on the record."

Again a review of Utah Code Ann. Sec. 63-46b-17 (Addendum D) is enlightening, as it demonstrates the broad discretion which the district court has to fashion a remedy. This would not be so if the district court were left with absolutely no vestige of authority to inquire into agency proceedings and take action based solely thereon when appropriate and necessary.

B. SINCE DISTRICT COURT REVIEW OF "PER SE" LICENSE
SUSPENSION HEARINGS IS "ON THE RECORD," THE "RESIDUUM
RULE" IS APPLICABLE TO JUDICIAL REVIEW.

As discussed, trial de novo review of the Department's informal adjudicatory proceedings is "on the record". Accordingly, the district court may determine whether a modicum of legal evidence existed at the administrative hearing to satisfy the "residuum rule."

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